

Attachment 2 to CS 33: Compare version



ASIC
Australian Securities &
Investments Commission

Note: This document has been prepared using the MS Word 'Compare' function. It compares:

- the *ASIC Derivative Transaction Rules (Clearing) 2015*; with
- Attachment 1 to CS 33: *Draft ASIC Derivative Transaction Rules (Clearing) 2026*

The text of Attachment 1 to CS 33 prevails over the text of this document.

Draft ASIC Derivative Transaction Rules (Clearing) ~~2015~~2026

About this compilation

This compilation

This is a compilation of the *ASIC Derivative Transaction Rules (Clearing) 2015* that shows the text of the law as amended and in force on 21/10/2024 (the **compilation date**).

The notes at the end of this compilation (the **endnotes**) include information about amending laws and the amendment history of provisions of the compiled law.

Uncommenced amendments

The effect of uncommenced amendments is not shown in the text of the compiled law. Any uncommenced amendments affecting the law are accessible on the Register (www.legislation.gov.au). The details of amendments made up to, but not commenced at, the compilation date are underlined in the endnotes. For more information on any uncommenced amendments, see the Register for the compiled law.

Application, saving and transitional provisions for provisions and amendments

If the operation of a provision or amendment of the compiled law is affected by an application, saving or transitional provision that is not included in this compilation, details are included in the endnotes.

Modifications

If the compiled law is modified by another law, the compiled law operates as modified but the modification does not amend the text of the law. Accordingly, this compilation does not show the text of the compiled law as modified. For more information on any modifications, see the Register for the compiled law.

Self-repealing provisions

If a provision of the compiled law has been repealed in accordance with a provision of the law, details are included in the endnotes.

DRAFT

Contents

Chapter 1: Introduction.....	1
Part 1.1 Preliminary	1
Part 1.2 Interpretation.....	1
Chapter 2: Clearing Requirements.....	13
Chapter 3: Notifications and record keeping.....	16
Part 3.1 Notifications	16
Part 3.2 Records	17
Endnotes	18
Endnote 1—About the endnotes.....	18
Endnote 2—Abbreviation key	19
Endnote 3—Legislation history	20
Endnote 4—Amendment history.....	21
Chapter 1: Introduction.....	43
Part 1.1 Preliminary	43
Part 1.2 Interpretation	54
Chapter 2: Clearing Requirements	1745
Chapter 3: Notifications and record keeping	2149
Part 3.1 Notifications.....	2149
Part 3.2 Records	2220
Chapter 4: Transitional	2424

DRAFT

Chapter 1: Introduction

Part 1.1 Preliminary

1.1.1 ~~Enabling legislation~~

~~ASIC makes this Name of instrument under section 901A of the Corporations Act 2001 (the Act).~~

1.1.2 ~~Title~~

This ~~instrument~~ is the *ASIC Derivative Transaction Rules (Clearing)* ~~2015~~2026.

1.1.2 Commencement

This instrument commences on the later of:

(a) the day after it is registered on the Federal Register of Legislation; and

(b) 1 April 2026.

Note: The register may be accessed at www.legislation.gov.au.

1.1.3 Authority

This instrument is made under section 901A of the *Corporations Act 2001*.

1.1.4 ~~Penalties for a contravention of these Rules~~

The maximum pecuniary penalty payable for a contravention of a provision of these Rules is an amount determined by the Court under section 1317G of the Corporations Act.

DRAFT

1.1.5 Simplified outline of these Rules

These Rules specify clearing requirements that apply to certain Australian and foreign financial entities (called Clearing Entities). The Rules require Clearing Entities to centrally clear transactions in certain over-the-counter (OTC) interest rate derivative products with certain specifications in relation to the currency of denomination, floating rate index and termination date range.

Among other matters, unless it voluntarily opts-in, an entity will only become a Clearing Entity if it holds total gross notional outstanding derivative positions of AUD \$100 billion or more in a personal or representative capacity as at two consecutive quarter-ends.

The Rules also contain certain exceptions from the clearing requirements and include provisions for notifications and record-keeping to ensure compliance, together with transitional provisions in relation to the previous rules.

Part 1.2 Interpretation

1.2.1 Definitions

In these Rules:

2015 Rules means these *ASIC Derivative Transaction Rules (Clearing) 2015*.

Act means the *Corporations Act 2001*.

~~***Australian ADI*** has the meaning given by section 9 of the Act.~~

Australian Clearing Entity, in relation to a Derivative Transaction, has the meaning given by subrules 1.2.4(2) and (3).

Basis Swap means a Swap under which:

- (a) the payments for one leg are determined by reference to, or derived from, a floating rate and a notional principal amount; and
- (b) the payments for the other leg are determined by reference to, or derived from, a different floating rate and the same notional principal amount.

Calculation Date means each of 31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31 December in each calendar year, commencing on ~~30 September 2015~~ 31 December 2025.

Central Clearing Transaction has the meaning given by subrules 2.1.1(3) and (4).

Cleared Through has the meaning given by subrule 2.1.1(2).

Clearing Derivative has the meaning given by Rule 1.2.3.

DRAFT

Clearing Entity:

- (a) when used in relation to a Derivative Transaction, has the meaning given by subrule ~~1.2.4(1)~~; and
- (b) when used generally, an entity is a **Clearing Entity** if it is a Clearing Entity in relation to one or more of the following:
 - (i) a Derivative Transaction to which it is party in its Personal Capacity;
 - (ii) a Derivative Transaction to which it is party in a Representative Capacity.

Clearing Facility means:

- (a) when used in relation to a Clearing Transaction:
 - (i) a Licensed CS Facility, the licence for which authorises the Licensed CS Facility to provide services in respect of a class of financial products that includes the Clearing Derivative to which the Clearing Transaction relates; or
 - (ii) a Prescribed CS Facility that is prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 901A(7)(b) of the Act in relation to a class of Derivatives that includes the Clearing Derivative to which the Clearing Transaction relates; and
- (b) when used in general terms, a Licensed CS Facility or a Prescribed CS Facility.

~~**Clearing Requirements** has the meaning given by subsection 901A(7) of the Act.~~

~~Note: Clearing Requirements include the requirements in Rule 2.1.1 and subrule 2.1.6(2).~~

Clearing Threshold: see the definition of *meets the Clearing Threshold*.

Clearing Transaction has the meaning given by Rule 1.2.5.

Derivative has the meaning given by section 761D of the Act.

Derivative Transaction has the meaning given by section 9 of the Act.

Designated Business Identifier means an international business entity identifier (or “AVID”) issued by Avox Limited (CRN 04806632).

Determined Clearing Class means a class of Derivatives that the Minister has determined, under subsection 901B(2) of the Act, as a class of Derivatives in relation to which Clearing Requirements may be imposed (and that determination has not been revoked).

Note: See section 7 of the *Corporations (Derivatives) Determination 2023*.

Exempt Foreign Licensee means an entity:

- (a) that is incorporated or formed outside Australia; and
- (b) that, in this jurisdiction, provides financial services relating to Derivatives to wholesale clients (as defined in section 761G of the Act) and not to any other kind of clients; and
- (c) is exempt under the Act (including under the Regulations, or another instrument made under or for the purposes of the Act) from the requirement to hold a financial services licence for those financial services; and

DRAFT

- (d) whose activities relating to Derivatives are regulated by an overseas regulatory authority.

Financial Entity means each of the following:

- (a) a financial services licensee;
- (b) an Australian ADI;
- (c) an Exempt Foreign Licensee.

Fixed-to-Floating Swap means a Swap, other than a Forward Rate Agreement or an Overnight Index Swap, under which:

- (a) the payments for one leg are determined by reference to, or derived from, a fixed rate and a notional principal amount; and
- (b) the payments for the other leg are determined by reference to, or derived from, a floating rate and the same notional principal amount.

Foreign Clearing Entity, in relation to a Derivative Transaction, has the meaning given by subrules 1.2.4(4) and (5).

Foreign Internationally Active Dealer has the meaning given by regulation 7.5A.65 of the Regulations.

Forward Rate Agreement means a Swap, other than an Overnight Index Swap, under which:

- (a) there is a single payment for one leg that is determined by reference to, or derived from, a fixed rate and a notional principal amount; and
- (b) there is a single payment for the other leg that is determined by reference to, or derived from, a floating rate as at a pre-determined date and the same notional principal amount; and
- (c) the payments for each leg are exchanged on a pre-determined date, including, for the avoidance of doubt, by the payments for each leg being netted against one another so that there is a single payment between the parties.

IRD Class Specifications: see the definition of *meets the IRD Class Specifications*.

LEI means Legal Entity Identifier.

~~**Licensed CS Facility** has the meaning given by section 9 of the Act.~~

meets the Clearing Threshold has the meaning given by Rule 1.2.7.

meets the IRD Class Specifications has the meaning given by subrules 1.2.3(2) to (4).

Multilateral Portfolio Compression Cycle has the meaning given by subrule 2.1.5(2).

Opt-In Australian Clearing Entity has the meaning given by paragraphs 1.2.8(4)(a) and 1.2.8(5)(a).

Opt-In Clearing Entity means an Opt-In Australian Clearing Entity or an Opt-In Foreign Clearing Entity.

DRAFT

Opt-In Foreign Clearing Entity has the meaning given by paragraphs 1.2.8(4)(b) and 1.2.8(5)(b).

Overnight Index Swap means a Swap under which:

- (a) the payments for one leg are determined by reference to, or derived from, a fixed rate and a notional principal amount; and
- (b) the payments for the other leg are determined by reference to, or derived from, a floating rate based on a daily overnight rate and the same notional principal amount.

OTC Derivative has the meaning given by rule 1.2.4 of the Reporting Rules.

Personal Capacity, in relation to an entity, means the entity acting in a capacity that is not a Representative Capacity.

Prescribed CS Facility means a facility that is, or that is in a class of facilities that is, prescribed by regulations made for the purposes of paragraph 901A(7)(b) of the Act.

Note: See regulation 7.5A.63 of the Regulations.

Regulations means the *Corporations Regulations 2001*.

Reporting Rules means the *ASIC Derivative Transaction Rules (Reporting) 2024*.

Representative Capacity, in relation to an entity, means the entity acting in a capacity as the responsible entity for a registered scheme, or as the trustee of a trust.

Rules means these *ASIC Derivative Transaction Rules (Clearing) 2015* ~~2026~~.

Swap means a Derivative between two parties under which:

- (a) one party (**Party A**) is required to make one or more payments (**payments for the first leg**) to the other party (**Party B**); and
- (b) Party B is required to make one or more payments (**payments for the second leg**) to Party A;

and includes a Derivative where some or all of those payments are netted against one another.

total gross notional outstanding positions has a meaning affected by Rule 1.2.6.

~~Note 1:~~ Words and expressions defined in the Act have the same meaning in these Rules unless otherwise defined or specified in these Rules or the contrary intention appears: paragraph 13(1)(b) of the *Legislative Instruments Act 2003*.

~~Note 2: For convenience, some words and expressions defined in the Act are defined in the same way in this Rule.~~

1.2.2- References to entity acting in a capacity

In these Rules, unless the contrary intention appears, a reference to an entity **acting in a capacity** or **acting in a particular capacity** where the capacity is not specified is a reference to the entity acting in its Personal Capacity or in a Representative Capacity.

1.2.3 Meaning of Clearing Derivative

(1) Subject to ~~subrule (6) to (7)~~, a Derivative is a **Clearing Derivative** if the Derivative:

- (a) is an OTC Derivative;
- (b) is in a Determined Clearing Class; and
- (c) is a Basis Swap, Fixed-to-Floating Swap, Forward Rate Agreement or Overnight Index Swap; and
- (d) meets the IRD Class Specifications.

(2) A Derivative that is a Basis Swap or a Fixed-to-Floating Swap **meets the IRD Class Specifications** if a row of the following table contains:

- (a) the currency (**Currency**) in which the notional principal amount and payments under the Derivative are denominated; and
- (b) the benchmark, index or rate (**Floating Rate Index**) on which each floating rate for the Derivative is based; and
- (c) a period of time (**Termination Date Range**) which includes the period from entry into the Derivative until the termination date for the Derivative.

IRD Class Specifications for Basis Swaps and Fixed-to-Floating Swaps			
Item	Currency	Floating Rate Index	Termination Date Range
1	euro	Euro Interbank Offered Rate (EURIBOR)	28 days to 50 years
2	Australian dollar	Australian Bank Bill Swap Rate (BBSW)	28 days to 30 years

(3) A Derivative that is a Forward Rate Agreement **meets the IRD Class Specifications** if a row of the following table contains:

- (a) the Currency in which the notional principal amount and payments under the Derivative are denominated; and
- (b) the Floating Rate Index on which the floating rate for the Derivative is based; and
- (c) a Termination Date Range that includes the period from entry into the Derivative until the termination date for the Derivative.

IRD Class Specifications for Forward Rate Agreements			
Item	Currency	Floating Rate Index	Termination Date Range
1	euro	Euro Interbank Offered Rate (EURIBOR)	3 days to 3 years

(4) A Derivative that is an Overnight Index Swap **meets the IRD Class Specifications** if a row of the following table contains:

- (a) the Currency in which the notional principal amount and payments under the Derivative are denominated; and

DRAFT

- (b) the Floating Rate Index on which the floating rate for the Derivative is based; and
- (c) a Termination Date Range that includes the period from entry into the Derivative until the termination date for the Derivative.

IRD Class Specifications for Overnight Index Swaps			
Item	Currency	Floating Rate Index	Termination Date Range
1	US dollar	Effective Federal Funds Rate (FedFunds)	7 days to 2 years
2	euro	Euro Short Term Rate (€STR)	7 days to 3 years
3	British pound	Sterling Overnight Interbank Average Rate (SONIA)	7 days to 50 years
4	Australian dollar	RBA Interbank Overnight Cash Rate (IBOC)	7 days to 2 years
5	Japanese yen	Tokyo Overnight Average Rate (TONA)	7 days to 30 years
6	US dollar	Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR)	7 days to 50 years

(5) A reference to a type of Floating Rate Index in a table in this Rule includes a reference to any successor to that Floating Rate Index.

(6) A Derivative is not a Clearing Derivative if under the Derivative:

Optionality

- (a) either party is granted an option which, if exercised, would or might affect the amount, timing or form of the consideration that would otherwise be provided under the Derivative by a party to the Derivative; or

Note: A Derivative that gave a party the ability to change the notional principal amount at its election would be an example of optionality. This type of optionality would also fall within paragraph (c).

Multi-currency

- (b) the notional principal amount and payments under the Derivative are not all denominated in the same currency; or

Note: Such a Derivative would also not be a Clearing Derivative because it would not meet the IRD Class Specifications: see paragraphs (2)(a), (3)(a) and (4)(a).

Conditional notional principal amount

- (c) the notional principal amount will or may change upon the occurrence of a specified future event where, at the time of entry into the Derivative, at least one of the following is uncertain:
 - (i) when the future event will occur;
 - (ii) whether the future event will occur.

DRAFT

- ~~(7) A Derivative is not a Clearing Derivative if both the following are satisfied:~~
- ~~(a) the notional principal amount and payments under the Derivative are denominated in Australian dollars;~~
 - ~~(b) the Derivative is either:~~
 - ~~(i) an Overnight Index Swap that was entered into before 3 October 2016; or~~
 - ~~(ii) a Forward Rate Agreement that was entered into before 2 April 2018.~~

1.2.4 Meaning of Clearing Entity

(1) An entity is a **Clearing Entity** in relation to a Derivative Transaction if it is an Australian Clearing Entity or a Foreign Clearing Entity in relation to the Derivative Transaction.

(2) An entity is an **Australian Clearing Entity** in relation to a Derivative Transaction to which it is party in its Personal Capacity if the entity is:

- (a) an Australian ADI or a financial services licensee that:
 - (i) is incorporated or formed in Australia; and
 - (ii) meets the Clearing Threshold in its Personal Capacity; or
- (b) an Opt-In Australian Clearing Entity in its Personal Capacity.

(3) An entity is an **Australian Clearing Entity** in relation to a Derivative Transaction to which it is a party in a Representative Capacity if:

- (a) the scheme or trust to which the Representative Capacity relates is incorporated or formed in Australia; and
- (b) the entity is:
 - (i) a Financial Entity that:
 - (A) is incorporated or formed in Australia or is a foreign company; and
 - (B) meets the Clearing Threshold in that Representative Capacity; or
 - (ii) an Opt-In Australian Clearing Entity in that Representative Capacity.

(4) An entity is a **Foreign Clearing Entity** in relation to a Derivative Transaction to which it is party in its Personal Capacity if the entity is:

- (a) a Financial Entity that:
 - (i) is a foreign company; and
 - (ii) meets the Clearing Threshold in its Personal Capacity; or
- (b) an Opt-In Foreign Clearing Entity in its Personal Capacity.

(5) An entity is a **Foreign Clearing Entity** in relation to a Derivative Transaction to which it is a party in a Representative Capacity if:

- (a) the scheme or trust to which the Representative Capacity relates is incorporated or formed outside Australia; and

- (b) the entity is either:
 - (i) a Financial Entity that:
 - (A) is incorporated or formed in Australia or is a foreign company; and
 - (B) meets the Clearing Threshold in that Representative Capacity; or
 - (ii) an Opt-In Foreign Clearing Entity in that Representative Capacity.

Definitions of *Australian clearing entity* and *foreign clearing entity* in the Regulations

(6) For the purposes of subregulations 7.5A.61(2) and 7.5A.62(2) of the Regulations, an entity that is:

- (a) an Australian Clearing Entity in relation to a Derivative Transaction to which it is party in a Representative Capacity is an ***Australian clearing entity*** (as defined in subregulation 7.5A.61(2)) in relation to the Derivative Transaction; and
- (b) a Foreign Clearing Entity in relation to a Derivative Transaction to which it is party in a Representative Capacity is a ***foreign clearing entity*** (as defined in subregulation 7.5A.62(2)) in relation to the Derivative Transaction.

Note: Subregulations 7.5A.61(2) and 7.5A.62(2) of the Regulations provide that, for the purposes of the Regulations, an entity is an Australian clearing entity or a foreign clearing entity (as the case may be) in relation to a derivative transaction to which it is a party in a representative capacity in the circumstances set out in the derivative transaction rules.

1.2.5 Meaning of Clearing Transaction

(1) This Rule defines when a Derivative Transaction is a ***Clearing Transaction*** for a Clearing Entity in relation to the Derivative Transaction.

Entry into a Clearing Derivative by an Australian Clearing Entity

(2) Entry into a Clearing Derivative by an Australian Clearing Entity is a ***Clearing Transaction*** for the Australian Clearing Entity if the other party to the Clearing Derivative is:

- (a) an Australian Clearing Entity; or
- (b) a Foreign Clearing Entity; or
- (c) a Foreign Internationally Active Dealer.

Entry into a Clearing Derivative by a Foreign Clearing Entity

(3) Entry into a Clearing Derivative by a Foreign Clearing Entity is a ***Clearing Transaction*** for the Foreign Clearing Entity if:

- (a) the other party to the Clearing Derivative is:
 - (i) an Australian Clearing Entity; or
 - (ii) a Foreign Clearing Entity; or
 - (iii) a Foreign Internationally Active Dealer; and

DRAFT

- (b) where the other party is a Foreign Clearing Entity or a Foreign Internationally Active Dealer—at least one Foreign Clearing Entity that is party to the Clearing Derivative books the Clearing Derivative to the profit or loss account of a branch of the Foreign Clearing Entity located in Australia.

Clearing Entity that is party to a Clearing Derivative in different capacities

(4) For the avoidance of doubt, if:

- (a) an entity is party, in different capacities, to both sides of a Clearing Derivative; and
- (b) the entity is a Clearing Entity in relation to the Clearing Derivative in each of those capacities;

subrules (2) and (3) apply as if the Clearing Derivative had two distinct parties, being the entity acting in each of those capacities.

Note: This may result in entry into such a Clearing Derivative being a Clearing Transaction for the entity.

1.2.6 References to total gross notional outstanding positions

(1) A reference in these Rules to the total gross notional outstanding positions held by an entity in a particular capacity is a reference to the entity's total gross notional outstanding positions aggregated across all Derivatives to which the entity is a party in that capacity, but does not include:

~~(a) a position in a Derivative that is not a Clearing Derivative because of subrule 1.2.3(7) (whether or not it is also not a Clearing Derivative for other reasons); or~~

~~(b)(a)~~ a position in a Derivative entered into with a related body corporate of the entity; or
~~(b)(b)~~ for an entity:

- (i) that is acting in its Personal Capacity and is incorporated or formed outside Australia; or
- (ii) that is acting in a Representative Capacity in relation to a scheme or trust that is incorporated or formed outside Australia;

a position in a Derivative:

~~that was not booked to the profit or loss account of a branch of the entity located in Australia; and~~

~~(iii) that either:~~

~~(A) was not entered into in Australia; or~~

~~(B) was entered into in Australia before 25 February 2015.~~

(2) This Rule also applies for the purposes of ~~these Rules and~~ paragraph 7.5A.60(2)(a) of the Regulations.

DRAFT

1.2.7 Clearing Threshold

Financial Entity acting in its Personal Capacity

(1) If a Financial Entity holds total gross notional outstanding positions of AUD \$100 billion or more in its Personal Capacity on each of two consecutive Calculation Dates, the entity ***meets the Clearing Threshold*** in its Personal Capacity from the date (***Clearing Start Date***) that is the first Monday after the immediately following Calculation Date.

(2) If ~~the~~ Financial Entity meets the Clearing Threshold in its Personal Capacity, but does not hold total gross notional outstanding positions of AUD \$100 billion or more in its Personal Capacity on each of two consecutive Calculation Dates, the Financial Entity ceases to meet the Clearing Threshold in its Personal Capacity on the day (***Clearing End Date***) after the second of those Calculation Dates.

Financial Entity acting in a Representative Capacity

(3) If a Financial Entity holds total gross notional outstanding positions of AUD \$100 billion or more in a Representative Capacity on each of two consecutive Calculation Dates, the Financial Entity ***meets the Clearing Threshold*** in that Representative Capacity from the date (***Clearing Start Date***) that is the first Monday after the immediately following Calculation Date.

(4) If a Financial Entity meets the Clearing Threshold in a Representative Capacity, but does not hold total gross notional outstanding positions of AUD \$100 billion or more in that Representative Capacity on each of two consecutive Calculation Dates, the Financial Entity ceases to meet the Clearing Threshold in that Representative Capacity on the day (***Clearing End Date***) after the second of those Calculation Dates.

(5) Nothing in this Rule ~~or Rule 4.1.1~~ prevents a Financial Entity that has ceased to meet the Clearing Threshold in its Personal Capacity under subrule (2) or in a Representative Capacity under subrule (4) from meeting the Clearing Threshold in that capacity again under subrule ~~(1)~~ or (3).

(6) This Rule ~~applies~~ and Rule 4.1.1 apply for the purposes of these Rules and paragraph 7.5A.60(2)(b) of the Regulations.

Note: For example, a Financial Entity that holds total gross notional outstanding positions of AUD \$100 billion or more in a particular capacity as at both 30 September ~~2015~~2026 and 31 December ~~2015~~2026 meets the Clearing Threshold in that capacity from ~~45~~ April ~~2016~~2027. If the Financial Entity subsequently holds total gross notional outstanding positions of less than AUD \$100 billion in that capacity on both 30 September ~~2016~~2027 and 31 December ~~2016~~2027, the Financial Entity will cease to meet the Clearing Threshold in that capacity on 1 January ~~2017~~2028.

1.2.8 Opt In to become a Clearing Entity

(1) An entity may lodge a written notice (an ***Opt-In Notice***) with ASIC setting out the following:

- (a) the name of the entity;

- (b) the entity's LEI or interim entity identifier or, if no LEI or interim entity identifier is available for the entity, a Designated Business Identifier or, if no Designated Business Identifier is available for the entity, a Business Identifier Code (BIC code);
- (c) which of the following capacities the entity is lodging the notice in:
 - (i) its Personal Capacity;
 - (ii) a Representative Capacity;
- (d) if the entity is lodging the notice in a Representative Capacity—the name of each scheme or trust to which the Representative Capacity relates and whether the scheme or trust was incorporated or formed in Australia or outside Australia;
- (e) the date (**Clearing Start Date**) on which the entity will commence being an Opt-In Clearing Entity in relation to each capacity in which it is lodging the notice, being a date not less than 30 days from the date the Opt-In Notice is lodged.

(2) An entity that has lodged an Opt-In Notice under subrule (1) may withdraw the Opt-In Notice by lodging a written notice (**Withdrawal Notice**) with ASIC setting out the following:

- (a) the name of the entity;
- (b) the entity's LEI or interim entity identifier or, if no LEI or interim entity identifier is available for the entity, a Designated Business Identifier or, if no Designated Business Identifier is available for the entity, a Business Identifier Code (BIC code);
- (c) which of the following capacities the entity is lodging the notice in:
 - (i) its Personal Capacity;
 - (ii) a Representative Capacity;
- (d) if the entity is lodging the notice in a Representative Capacity—the name of each scheme or trust to which the Representative Capacity relates;
- (e) the date (**Clearing End Date**) on which the entity will cease being an Opt-In Clearing Entity in relation to each capacity in which it is lodging the notice, being a date not less than 30 days from the date the Withdrawal Notice is lodged.

(3) ASIC may publish on its website any Opt-In Notice or a Withdrawal Notice given to it by an entity under this Rule.

(4) If an entity lodges an Opt-In Notice with ASIC under subrule (1) in its Personal Capacity:

- (a) if the entity is incorporated or formed in Australia—it will be an **Opt-In Australian Clearing Entity** in its Personal Capacity from the Clearing Start Date; and

Note: For the purposes of the Regulations, the entity will be an **Australian clearing entity** (as defined in subregulation 7.5A.61(1) of the Regulations) in relation to a Derivative Transaction to which it is party in its Personal Capacity: see paragraph 7.5A.61(1)(b) of the Regulations.

- (b) if the entity is incorporated or formed outside Australia—it will be an **Opt-In Foreign Clearing Entity** in its Personal Capacity from the Clearing Start Date.

Note: For the purposes of the Regulations, the entity will be a **foreign clearing entity** (as defined in subregulation 7.5A.62(1) of the Regulations) in relation to a Derivative Transaction to which it is party in its Personal Capacity: see paragraph 7.5A.62(1)(c) of the Regulations.

DRAFT

(5) If an entity lodges an Opt-In Notice with ASIC under subrule (1) in a Representative Capacity:

- (a) if the scheme or trust to which the Representative Capacity relates is incorporated or formed in Australia—the entity will be an ***Opt-In Australian Clearing Entity*** in that Representative Capacity from the Clearing Start Date; and
- (b) if the scheme or trust is incorporated or formed outside Australia—the entity will be an ***Opt-In Foreign Clearing Entity*** in that Representative Capacity from the Clearing Start Date.

(6) If an entity lodges a Withdrawal Notice under subrule (2), the entity ceases to be an Opt-In Australian Clearing Entity or an Opt-In Foreign Clearing Entity (as the case may be) in relation to each capacity in which it lodges the notice from the Clearing End Date.

(7) Nothing in this Rule affects whether an entity is a Clearing Entity under any other Rule.

Note: An entity that has lodged an Opt-In Notice in accordance with this Rule will be required to comply with the applicable Clearing Requirements from the Clearing Start Date until the Clearing End Date.

DRAFT

Chapter 2: Clearing Requirements

2.1.1 Clearing Requirement

(1) A Clearing Entity must ensure that each of its Clearing Transactions is Cleared Through a Clearing Facility as soon as reasonably practicable after the Clearing Transaction is entered into.

(2) A Clearing Transaction is **Cleared Through** a Clearing Facility if:

- (a) for each party to the Clearing Transaction that is a participant in the Clearing Facility, the operator of the Clearing Facility enters into a Central Clearing Transaction with:
 - (i) that party; or
 - (ii) another participant acting on behalf of that party; and
- (b) for each party to the Clearing Transaction that is not a participant in the Clearing Facility, the operator of the Clearing Facility enters into a Central Clearing Transaction with a participant:
 - (i) acting on behalf of that party; or
 - (ii) acting on behalf of a person who is acting on behalf of that party; and

Note: A participant may be acting on behalf of a person even if it enters into a Central Clearing Transaction as principal.

(c) following entry into the Central Clearing Transactions, each party to the Clearing Transaction has no, or substantially no, further rights against, or obligations to, the other party under the Clearing Derivative to which the Clearing Transaction relates.

(3) In this Rule, an operator of a Clearing Facility enters into a **Central Clearing Transaction** with:

- (a) a party to a Clearing Transaction who is a participant in the Clearing Facility if the operator is substituted, by novation, as the counterparty to the participant under the Clearing Derivative to which the Clearing Transaction relates; and
- (b) a participant who is acting on behalf of a party (**first party**) to a Clearing Transaction if:
 - (i) the participant is substituted, by novation, as the first party under the Clearing Derivative to which the Clearing Transaction relates; and
 - (ii) the operator is substituted, by novation, as the counterparty to the first party under the Clearing Derivative; and
- (c) a participant who is acting on behalf of a person who is acting on behalf of a party (**first party**) to a Clearing Transaction if:
 - (i) the participant is substituted, by novation, as the first party under the Clearing Derivative to which the Clearing Transaction relates; and
 - (ii) the operator is substituted, by novation, as the counterparty to the first party under the Clearing Derivative.

DRAFT

(4) In this Rule, an operator of a Clearing Facility also enters into a **Central Clearing Transaction** with a person in relation to a Clearing Transaction if the operator and the person enter into a transaction which has an equivalent, or a substantially equivalent, legal and economic effect as between the operator and the person as a novation referred to in paragraph (3)(a), (b) or (c).

2.1.2 Exception where Clearing Derivative terminated

A Clearing Entity is not required to comply with Rule 2.1.1 in relation to a Clearing Transaction if the Clearing Derivative to which the Clearing Transaction relates is terminated before the time by which the Clearing Transaction must be cleared in accordance with Rule 2.1.1.

2.1.3 Exception where no Licensed CS Facility or Prescribed CS Facility

A Clearing Entity is not required to comply with Rule 2.1.1 in relation to a Clearing Transaction if:

- (a) there is no Licensed CS Facility that:
 - (i) is authorised to provide clearing services in respect of the class of Derivatives that includes the Clearing Derivative to which the Clearing Transaction relates; and
 - (ii) provides clearing services in respect of the Clearing Derivative to which the Clearing Transaction relates; and
- (b) there is no Prescribed CS Facility that:
 - (i) is prescribed in relation to the class of Derivatives that includes the Clearing Derivative to which the Clearing Transaction relates; and
 - (ii) provides clearing services in respect of the Clearing Derivative to which the Clearing Transaction relates.

2.1.4 Exception to Clearing Requirement—Intra-group trades

~~(4)~~ A Clearing Entity is not required to comply with Rule 2.1.1 in relation to a Clearing Transaction if, at the time the Clearing Transaction is entered into, the counterparty to the Clearing Transaction is a related body corporate of the Clearing Entity.

2.1.5 ~~Exception~~**Exceptions to Clearing Requirement—Multilateral portfolio compression and post-trade risk reduction exercise**

(1) A Clearing Entity is not required to comply with Rule 2.1.1 in relation to a Clearing Transaction if:

- (a) the Clearing Transaction is entered into by the Clearing Entity as a result of the Clearing Entity modifying or terminating and replacing Derivatives under a Multilateral Portfolio Compression Cycle; and

DRAFT

- (b) for each of the Derivatives that was modified, or terminated and replaced—entry into the Derivative was not a Clearing Transaction that was required to be Cleared Through a Clearing Facility in accordance with Rule 2.1.1 or subrule 2.1.6(2); and
- (c) the Clearing Transactions entered into by the Clearing Entity as a result of the Multilateral Portfolio Compression Cycle are only entered into with persons who were counterparties to those Derivatives; and
- (d) the Multilateral Portfolio Compression Cycle was conducted in accordance with the rules of a third-party operator of Multilateral Portfolio Compression Cycles and involved more than two participants, none of which was the operator; and
- (e) the Multilateral Portfolio Compression Cycle was conducted in compliance with the counterparty credit risk tolerance levels set by the participants in the Multilateral Portfolio Compression Cycle.

(2) In subrule (1), ***Multilateral Portfolio Compression Cycle*** means a process under which portfolios of Derivatives between participants in the process are modified to reduce their notional value or terminated and replaced with new Derivatives providing for reduced notional exposures between the participants, conducted for the purposes of reducing operational risk or counterparty credit risk for the participants.

(3) A Clearing Entity is not required to comply with Rule 2.1.1 in relation to a Clearing Transaction if:

- (a) the Clearing Transaction is entered into by the Clearing Entity as a result of the Clearing Entity modifying or terminating and replacing Derivatives under a Post-trade Risk Reduction Exercise; and
- (b) for each of the Derivatives that was modified, or terminated and replaced—entry into the Derivative was not a Clearing Transaction that was required to be Cleared Through a Clearing Facility in accordance with Rule 2.1.1 or subrule 2.1.6(2); and
- (c) the Clearing Transactions entered into by the Clearing Entity as a result of the Post-trade Risk Reduction Exercise are only entered into with persons who were counterparties to those Derivatives; and
- (d) the Post-trade Risk Reduction Exercise was conducted in accordance with the rules of a third-party operator of a Post-trade Risk Reduction service and involved more than two participants, none of which was the operator.

(4) In subrule (3), ***Post-trade Risk Reduction Exercise*** means a process:

- (a) operated by a third-party service provider; and
- (b) under which portfolios of Derivatives between, and submitted by, participants in the process are:
 - (i) modified to reduce their notional value; or
 - (ii) terminated and replaced with new Derivatives providing for reduced notional exposures between the participants; or

DRAFT

- (iii) terminated and replaced with new Derivatives providing for redistributed counterparty risk between the participants; or
- (iv) terminated and replaced with new Derivatives providing for reduced basis risk between the participants; and
- (c) conducted for the purposes of reducing operational risk or counterparty credit risk for the participants; and
- (d) in relation to which the following apply:
 - (i) the process achieves a reduction in operational risk or counterparty credit risk in relation to each of the submitted portfolios;
 - (ii) a participant is not able to choose which Derivatives are modified, or terminated and replaced, under the process, but may choose to accept or reject the result of the process in its entirety as it relates to their submitted Derivatives;
 - (iii) once the process commences, no further Derivatives may be added to the process;
 - (iv) the process is market risk neutral;
 - (v) the process does not contribute to price formation;
 - (vi) the process takes the form of a compression, rebalancing or optimisation exercise or a combination of those exercises;
 - (vii) under the process, Derivatives may be modified, or terminated and replaced, on a bilateral or multilateral basis.

2.1.6 T+3 clearing if foreign clearing requirements apply

(1) A Clearing Entity is not required to comply with Rule 2.1.1 in relation to a Clearing Transaction if the Clearing Entity or its counterparty to the Clearing Transaction is subject to a requirement in a foreign jurisdiction (***relevant foreign jurisdiction***) which requires the Clearing Transaction to be Cleared Through a Clearing Facility by no later than three Business Days after the date on which the Clearing Transaction was entered into.

(2) A Clearing Entity that relies on the exemption in subrule (1) must ensure that the Clearing Transaction is cleared in accordance with the requirements of the relevant foreign jurisdiction by no later than three Business Days after the date on which the Clearing Transaction was entered into.

(3) For the purposes of this Rule, ***Business Day*** means a day that is a business day as that term is commonly understood in the relevant foreign jurisdiction.

DRAFT

Chapter 3: Notifications and record keeping

Part 3.1 Notifications

3.1.1 Notification of Clearing Start Dates and Clearing End Dates

(1) A Financial Entity that is incorporated or formed in Australia or outside Australia must notify ASIC of each Clearing Start Date and each Clearing End Date that applies to the entity under Rule 1.2.7.

(2) A notification under subrule (1) must be in writing and must include the following information:

- (a) the name of the entity;
- (b) the entity's LEI or interim entity identifier or, if no LEI or interim entity identifier is available for the entity, a Designated Business Identifier, or if no Designated Business Identifier is available for the entity, a Business Identifier Code (BIC code);
- (c) whether the entity is giving the notification in its Personal Capacity or in a Representative Capacity;
- (d) if the entity is giving the notification in relation to a Representative Capacity—the name of each scheme or trust to which the Representative Capacity relates;
- (e) if the notification is of a Clearing Start Date—the Clearing Start Date and whether the entity will become an Australian Clearing Entity or a Foreign Clearing Entity on the Clearing Start Date;
- (f) if the notification is of a Clearing End Date—the Clearing End Date and whether the entity will cease to be an Australian Clearing Entity or a Foreign Clearing Entity on the Clearing End Date.

(3) A notification under subrule (1) must be given to ASIC no later than:

- (a) if the notification is of a Clearing Start Date—30 days before the Clearing Start Date; and
- (b) if the notification is of a Clearing End Date—30 days after the Clearing End Date.

(4) ASIC may publish on its website any notification given to ASIC under this Rule.

3.1.2 Notification of Clearing Entity status to counterparty

(1) This Rule applies to an entity that:

- (a) is a Clearing Entity; or
- (b) has given, or is required to give, a notice to ASIC under Rule 1.2.8 or subrule 3.1.1(1).

(2) An entity to which this Rule applies must, on request by a person that has entered into or proposes to enter into a Derivative Transaction with the entity, disclose in writing to the person the following within a reasonable time after the request:

- (a) whether the entity is an Australian Clearing Entity or a Foreign Clearing Entity; and

DRAFT

- (b) if the entity will become or cease to be a Clearing Entity on an identifiable future date—that date and whether the entity will become or cease to be an Australian Clearing Entity or a Foreign Clearing Entity on that date.
- (3) An entity must disclose information under this Rule in relation to each capacity in which the entity:
 - (a) is a Clearing Entity; or
 - (b) has given, or is required to give, a notice to ASIC under Rule 1.2.8 or subrule 3.1.1(1).

Part 3.2 Records

3.2.1 Keeping of records

- (1) A Clearing Entity must keep records that enable the Clearing Entity to demonstrate it has complied with the requirements of these Rules.
- (2) A Clearing Entity must keep each record referred to in subrule (1) for a period of at least five years from the date the record is made or amended.
- (3) A Clearing Entity is not required to keep the records referred to in subrule (1) where the Clearing Entity has arrangements in place to access those records in a Clearing Facility, either directly or through another person, for the period set out in subrule (2).

3.2.2 Provision of records or other information

- (1) A Clearing Entity must, on written request by ASIC, provide ASIC with records or other information relating to compliance with or determining whether there has been compliance with these Rules.
- (2) A Clearing Entity must comply with a request under subrule (1) within the time specified in the request.

DRAFT

Endnotes

Endnote 1—About the endnotes

The endnotes provide information about this compilation and the compiled law.

The following endnotes are included in every compilation:

Endnote 1—About the endnotes

Endnote 2—Abbreviation key

Endnote 3—Legislation history

Endnote 4—Amendment history

Abbreviation key—Endnote 2

The abbreviation key sets out abbreviations that may be used in the endnotes.

Legislation history and amendment history—Endnotes 3 and 4

Amending laws are annotated in the legislation history and amendment history.

The legislation history in endnote 3 provides information about each law that has amended (or will amend) the compiled law. The information includes commencement details for amending laws and details of any application, saving or transitional provisions that are not included in this compilation.

The amendment history in endnote 4 provides information about amendments at the provision (generally section or equivalent) level. It also includes information about any provision of the compiled law

Chapter 4: Transitional

4.1.1 Financial Entities that meet the Clearing Threshold under the 2015 Rules

Financial Entity acting in its Personal Capacity

(1) If, but for the repeal of the 2015 Rules, a Financial Entity would meet the Clearing Threshold in its Personal Capacity for the purposes of the 2015 Rules on:

(a) the day these Rules commence—for the purposes of these Rules, the entity *meets the Clearing Threshold* in its Personal Capacity from the day (*Clearing Start Date*) that was the Clearing Start Date for the entity for the purposes of the 2015 Rules; or

(b) 6 April 2026 (being the first Monday after 31 March 2026)—for the purposes of these Rules, the entity *meets the Clearing Threshold* in its Personal Capacity from 6 April 2026 (*Clearing Start Date*).

Financial Entity acting in a Representative Capacity

(2) If, but for the repeal of the 2015 Rules, a Financial Entity would meet the Clearing Threshold in a Representative Capacity for the purposes of the 2015 Rules on:

(a) the day these Rules commence—for the purposes of these Rules, the entity *meets the Clearing Threshold* in that Representative Capacity from the day (*Clearing Start Date*) that was the Clearing Start Date for the entity for the purposes of the 2015 Rules; or

(b) 6 April 2026 (being the first Monday after 31 March 2026)—for the purposes of these Rules, the entity *meets the Clearing Threshold* in that Representative Capacity from 6 April 2026 (*Clearing Start Date*).

4.1.2 Opt-In Notices and Withdrawal Notices under the 2015 Rules

(1) An Opt-In Notice within the meaning of subrule 1.2.8(1) of the 2015 Rules that has been repealed lodged with ASIC and has not been withdrawn in accordance with a provision of the law.

Misdescribed amendments

~~A misdescribed amendment 2015 Rules is an amendment that does not accurately describe how an amendment is taken to be made. If, despite the misdescription, the amendment can be given effect as intended, then the misdescribed amendment can be incorporated through an editorial change made under section 15V of the *Legislation Act 2003* an Opt-In Notice lodged with ASIC under subrule 1.2.8(1) of these Rules.~~

~~If a misdescribed amendment cannot be given effect as intended, the amendment is not incorporated and “(md not incorp)” is added to the amendment history.~~

DRAFT

Endnote 2—Abbreviation key

ad = added or inserted	orig = original
am = amended	par = paragraph(s)/subparagraph(s)
amdt = amendment	/sub-subparagraph(s)
c = clause(s)	pres = present
C[x] = Compilation No. x	prev = previous
Ch = Chapter(s)	(prev...) = previously
def = definition(s)	Pt = Part(s)
Dict = Dictionary	r = regulation(s)/rule(s)
disallowed = disallowed by Parliament	reloc = relocated
Div = Division(s)	renum = renumbered
exp = expires/expired or ceases/ceased to have effect	rep = repealed
F = Federal Register of Legislation	rs = repealed and substituted
gaz = gazette	s = section(s)/subsection(s)
LA = Legislation Act 2003	Sch = Schedule(s)
LIA = Legislative Instruments Act 2003	Sdiv = Subdivision(s)
(md not incorp) = misdescribed amendment	SLI = Select Legislative Instrument
cannot be given effect	SR = Statutory Rules
mod = modified/modification	Sub Ch = Sub-Chapter(s)
No. = Number(s)	SubPt = Subpart(s)
o = order(s)	underlining = whole or part not
Ord = Ordinance	commenced or to be commenced

Endnote 3—Legislation history

Name	Registration	Commencement	Application, saving and transitional provisions
<i>ASIC Derivative Transaction Rules (Clearing) 2015</i>	11/12/2015 (F2015L01960)	12/12/2015	-
<i>ASIC Market Integrity Rules (Securities Markets and other ASIC Made Rules) Amendment Instrument 2022/117</i>	09/03/2022 (F2022L00295)	Schedule 5: 10/03/2022	-
<i>ASIC Derivative Transaction Rules (Clearing) Amendment Instrument 2022/224</i>	13/05/2022 (F2022L00697)	13/08/2022	-
<i>ASIC Corporations (Amendment) Instrument 2022/934</i>	20/12/2022 (F2022L01704)	Schedule 1 item 1: 21/12/2022 Schedule 1 item 2: 21/10/2024	-
<i>ASIC Derivative Transaction Rules (Clearing) Amendment Instrument 2023/726</i>	19/09/2023 (F2023L01265)	Schedule 1 items 1-6: 20/09/2023 Schedule 1 item 7: 19/03/2024	-
<i>ASIC Derivative Transaction Rules (Reporting and Clearing) Amendment Instrument 2024/416</i>	21/08/2024 (F2024L01032)	Schedule 5: 21/10/2024	-

DRAFT

Endnote 4—Amendment history

Provision affected	How affected
Rule 1.1.3	rep. s48D LA
Rule 1.1.4	rs. F2022L00295, Schedule 5, item [2]
Rule 1.2.1 (definition of Derivative Transaction)	am. F2024L01032, Schedule 5, item [1]
Rule 1.2.1 (note to definition of <i>Determined Clearing Class</i>)	am. F2024L01032, Schedule 5, items [2] and [3]
Rule 1.2.1 (definition of <i>Exempt Financial Market</i>)	rep. F2024L01032, Schedule 5, item [4]
Rule 1.2.1 (definition of <i>Licensed CS Facility</i>)	am. F2024L01032, Schedule 5, item [5]
Rule 1.2.1 (definition of <i>Part 7.2A Market</i>)	rep. F2024L01032, Schedule 5, item [6]
Rule 1.2.1 (definition of <i>OTC Derivative</i>)	ad. F2024L01032, Schedule 5, item [7]
Rule 1.2.1 (definition of <i>Regulated Foreign Market</i>)	rep. F2024L01032, Schedule 5, item [8]
Rule 1.2.1 (definition of <i>Reporting Rules</i>)	am. F2022L01704, Schedule 1, item [1] am. F2022L01704, Schedule 1, item [2]
Subrule 1.2.3(1)	rs. F2024L01032, Schedule 5, item [9]
Subrule 1.2.3(2) (table item 1)	rep. F2023L01265, Schedule 1, item [1]
Subrule 1.2.3(2) (table item 2)	renum. F2023L01265, Schedule 1, item [2]
Subrule 1.2.3(2) (table item 3)	rep. F2022L00697, Schedule 1, item [1] renum. F2023L01265, Schedule 1, item [3]
Subrule 1.2.3(2) (table item 4)	rep. F2022L00697, Schedule 1, item [1]
Subrule 1.2.3(2) (table item 5)	renum. F2022L00697, Schedule 1, item [2]
Subrule 1.2.3(3) (table item 1)	rep. F2023L01265, Schedule 1, item [4]
Subrule 1.2.3(3) (table item 2)	renum. F2023L01265, Schedule 1, item [5]
Subrule 1.2.3(3) (table item 3)	rep. F2022L00697, Schedule 1, item [3] rep. F2023L01265, Schedule 1, item [6]
Subrule 1.2.3(3) (table item 4)	rep. F2022L00697, Schedule 1, item [3]
Subrule 1.2.3(3) (table item 5)	renum. F2022L00697, Schedule 1, item [4]
Subrule 1.2.3(4) (cell at table item 2, column 3)	am. F2022L00697, Schedule 1, item [5]

DRAFT

Provision affected	How affected
Subrule 1.2.3(4) (cell at table item 2, column 4)	am. F2022L00697, Schedule 1, item [6]
Subrule 1.2.3(4) (cell at table item 3, column 4)	am. F2022L00697, Schedule 1, item [7]
Subrule 1.2.3(4) (table item 5)	ad. F2022L00697, Schedule 1, item [8]
Subrule 1.2.3(4) (table item 6)	ad. F2023L01265, Schedule 1, item [7]
Subrule 1.2.3(7)	rep. F2024L01032, Schedule 5, item [10]
Subrule 1.2.3(8)	am. F2024L01032, Schedule 5, item [11]
Rule 2.1.1 (Penalty)	rep. F2022L00295, Schedule 5, item [1]
Subrule 2.1.6(2) (Penalty)	rep. F2022L00295, Schedule 5, item [1]
Rule 3.1.1 (Penalty)	rep. F2022L00295, Schedule 5, item [1]
Rule 3.1.2 (Penalty)	rep. F2022L00295, Schedule 5, item [1]
Rule 3.2.1 (Penalty)	rep. F2022L00295, Schedule 5, item [1]
Rule 3.2.2 (Penalty)	rep. F2022L00295, Schedule 5, item [1]

(2) A Withdrawal Notice within the meaning of subrule 1.2.8(2) of the 2015 Rules that has been lodged with ASIC is taken to be a Withdrawal Notice lodged with ASIC under subrule 1.2.8(2) of these Rules.

4.1.3 Notification of Clearing Start Dates and Clearing End Dates under the 2015 Rules

A notification to ASIC under subrule 3.1.1(1) of the 2015 Rules is taken to be a notification to ASIC under subrule 3.1.1(1) of these Rules.

DRAFT